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PREFACE

"A Brief History of Jefferson Parish" prepared by
the Louisiana Historical Records Survey Projsct was
published in the Jefferson Parish Yearly Review, 1939,
pp. 127-183., A check of depositories to which this
printed volume was to have been mailed indicated that
most of the designated libraries did not have a copy.
Since the Ysarly Rev1ew is now out of print, and since
the "Brief History" was not included in the Inventory
of Parish Archives of Louisiana No, 26, Jefferson Pa-
rish (Grotna), University, Louisiana, January 1940,
it has been reissued in mimeographed form as a supple-
ment to the Jefferson Parish Inventory.

John C, L, Andreassen
Regional and State Supervisor
WPA Historical Records Survey Projects,

March 25, 1940

300 0ld Criminal Couris Building
Tulane and Saratoga Streets

New Orleans, Loulsiana
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A BRIEF HISTORY
of

JEFFERSON PARISH

The Historical Records Survey (1)

Jefferson Parish is located in southeastern Louisianae. It extends
from Lake Ponbtchartrain to the Gulf of Mexico, and touches the parishes
of Orleans and Plaquemines on the east, and St, Charles and Lafourche
on the west, The Mississippi River flows through the northern corner,
dividing the parish into two sections, the left bank, between the river
end the lake, and the right bank, from the river to the gulf. Jefferson
was oreated in 1825 from the Parish of Orleans, (2) and named in honor
of Thomes Jefferson. At that time the parish included the greater portion
of present uptown New Orleans beyond Felicity Street. As the city ex-
panded, the Jefferson line was pushed back bit by bit until today it
lies approximately along Monticello Avenue and the old protection levee
to the lake,

From north to south, the parish affords a striking conbtrast. That
part on the left bank adjoining New Orleans, consisting of 28,000 acres
of fertile land, is a thickly populated suburb. Here is located letairie,
with its beautiful homes and gardens; Harshan and Kenner, busy incor-
porated towns; while along the new four-lane highway to Baton Rouge
stretches an almost continuous line of farms, dairies and homes. Connect-
ing this section with the west bank of the lississippi is the new Huey
P, Long Bridge, its lofty arches visible for many miles. This is the
only trans-Mississippi bridge south of Vicksburg, although one is present-
ly under construction near Baton Rouge. Across the river, Gretna, Marrero,
Harvey and Westwego are manufacturing and shipping centers for nation-
ally known products. From here, however, the picture changes. As the
road burns southward toward the Gulf, it passes through the lovely
Barabtaria country, with its spreading osks snd winding bayous, its busy
little communities of shrimping end fishing folk. Finally, at the
southern end of the parish, the long miles of coastal mershes end. Here
only trappers and fishermen are found. Beyond the mainland, Grand Isle,
eight miles long by one mile wide, offers fishing and surf bathing
equalled in few places.

To uwnderstand Jefferson Parish as it is Today it is necessary
to go back nearly three hundred years to April 9, 1682. For two months,
Robert Cavelier de La Salle had been struggling with the dangerous and
uncharted currents of the Mississippi River, intent on one idea, to
traverse the entire course of the mighty river from source to mouth.
Indians, femine and sickness had pursucd his little band., Now at last,
on this day in April, he came to the end of his voyage, wherc the river
merged into the Gulif, "limitless, voiceless and lonely, without a sign
of 1ife". There he erected a cross and buried a leaden plate, claime
ing, in the name of Louis the Grand, King of France, all the country
drained by the Mississippi from the headwaters in Minnesota to the Gulf
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of Mexico. ULa Salle was killed five years later, by one of his own men,
but he left as an heritage the French claims to the colony of Louisiw
ans. (3)

Others followed the trails he had blazed. Bienville, Iberville,
and Ste Denis explored the rivers seeking places for trading posts.
Biloxi was settled by Bienville in 1699, Natchitoches by St Denis in
1714, New Orleans was established by Bienville in 1718, and in 1723
became the capital of Louisianas France lost Louisiana to Spain in
1763, 1In 1800, by a secret treaty, Spain gave Louisisne back to France,
and in 1803 Napoleon sold it to the United States for § 15,000,000. (4)

Orleams, the first county created after the Louisiana Purchase,
comprised all that portion of Louisisna lying on both sides of the Misse
issippi River from the Balize (at the mouth of the river), to the Parish
of  St, Charles. (5) Thus, Orleans County incofporated all thé terrie
tory included in the present parishes of Orleans, Jefferson, St.Ber=
nard and Plaquemines, On March 31, 1807, the Orleans Territorial Legisw
lature revoked the original twelve counties, and created instead ninee
teen parishes, retaining the term county only for purposes of ree
presentation and taxation witil 1845, (6) Two of these new parishes,
St. Bernard and Plaquemines, were taken from Orleans, All of the rew
maining territory of Orleans County bécame Orleans Parishe (7) By a
provision of the Constitution of 1812, the City of New Orleans, extends
ing from the Canal des Pecheurs to the Nuns! Plantation (Felicity Street),
constituted the second senatorial district, The remsinder of Orleans
Parish, extending from the Hwms' Plantabtion to St., Charles Parish and
Leke Pontchartrain on the left bank of the Mississippi River, and on
the right bank from the river to the Gulf of Mexico, formed the third
senatorial district. (8) It was this part of Orleans Parish which in
1825 became Jefferson Parish,

EARLY SETTLEMENTS .

Meny of the present population of the parish are descendants of
the French colonists who came to Louisiana during the eighteerith cente
urye The earliest land grants in the section go back to 1719, In that
year the Western Company, to whom King Louis XIV had leased the province
for purposes of trede and colonizatior, granted to Bienville an imm
mense tract of land above New Orleans, from Bienville Street to the -
"Tchoupitoulas", and another tract on the opposite side of the river.
Following the royal decree prohibiting the 6fficers of the company from
holding land other then "vegetable gardens", Bienville let out in cone
cessions all of his land except a "garden" on the right bank, and one
between Bienville and the present Felicity streets. These concessions
and subsequent sales of property to settlers formed the basis of the
plantations which grew up along the river. (9)

Iwelve miles above New Orleens was the tract known as thé Tchoupiw
toulas Plantation, the site of a Tchoupitoulas Indian village. The
first grant of this land was to Nicholas de Boisclaire beforé 1743,
Parts - of it passed by sale to Pierre Picquery, Jean Arnault, Bernard
Marigny, and in 1808 was purchased by Joseph Soniat du Fossat. Today




thore are sbout once humdred and sixbeen acres still in the possession
of Meloncy Ce Soniat., The rest of the plantation is occupled by the
Harahon School, the Sugar Planters Association, two deiries, the Coe
lonial Realty Company, and the Colonial Golf and Country Club. Parts
have been subsivided into Markham Heights, Soniat Place, Roseland Park,
Riverside Park and River Front Farms. (10)

The old colonial home of the Soniat family was built over a hune
dred years ago by Joseph Soniat du Fossat. The house was situated in
the middle of the plantation, and about six hundred feet from the rie
ver. It was a twowstory brick building with large galleries entirely
surrounding the house, these galleries being supported by large brick
pillers. The bricks used in the construction of the house were made on
the place, for du Fossat had his own brick~yard., The timber and the
lumber were cut from his cypress swamp; the wooden rafters and beams
were heown on the place and are held together by wooden pegs. Today, this
building still stands, and is the home of the Colonial Golf and Country
Club, The club bought two hundred acres of the plantation and remodeled
the mansion by adding a wing at each end of the colonnaded veranda and
installing locker rooms and a grill. (11)

DEVELOPIENT OF THE FAUBOURGS

Following the line of the river, these plantations developed first
into faubourgs (suburbs), usually teking the neme of the former owner,
(12) then into a series of incorporated towns, each destined to be
absorbed by the growing City of Now Orleans. By 1810 so many people
desired homes in this section that the large land owners decided to divide
their holdings into lots which could be sold to new settlers.

The first to develop was the Faubourg Nums, located approximately
between the present Felicity and St. Andrew Streets. This property was
bought by the Ursuline Nums in 1770 and 1780 from the Livaudais estate,
and used by them as a farm until its subdivision in 1810, (13) Above the
Nuns'! Plantation, and extending to the present First Street, was the
Faubourg Lafayette, known as the Wiltz tract. This tract was divided
into lots and opened for sale in 1813, but no specific name was assigned
to the faubourg, (14) In 1825 the Marquis de la Fayette visited New
Orlesns and made such a favorable impression that the new faubourg was
called in his honor Faubourg Lafayette. (15)

The tide of expansion swept on past the Faubourg Lafayette. Just
above lay the extensive plantation of the Livaudais family. The title
to this plantation originatced with Francois de Livaudais in 1736. When
his grandson Jacques merried Marie Celeste Marigny, the combined hold-
ings comprised practically all of what is now "uptown" New Orleans.
They were building a new mansion on their sugar plantation in the section
now bounded by Washington, Tchoupitoulas, Sixth streets and the river,
when the flood of 1816 inundated the section. The house was never com=
pleted, and remained for meny years a place of mystery, pointed out as
the "haunted house". The plantation, however, was greatly enhanced in
value by a deposit of rich alluvial soll which raised the land several
feete In 1832 Mrs. Livaudais sold her lend as far as Harmony Street to
a group of speculators, who called their new suburb Faubourg Livaudais.
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About 1840 wealthy Americans began moving into the faubourg, where they
bullt handsome homes surrounded by spacious gardens. This marked the
beginning of a residential section which even today is famous as the
"Garden District". (18)

CITY OF LAFAYETIE

On April 1, 1833, the faubourgs Nuns, Lafayette and Livaudais
were incorporated as the City of Lafayetbe. (17) Within ten vears the
government had progressed from a board and president, controlled by
the police jury, to a council and mayor. (18) In 1844 <he faubourg
Delassize was annexed to Lafayette, and in 1848 the limits of the city
were extended to the present Toledane Street. (19) But New Orleans also
was expanding in the same direction, and in 1847, soime of the lower
portion of Lafayctte was added to the city. Legally, howéver, the
boundaries between Jefferson and Orleans were not changed, and the parts
annexed were allowed to remain in Jefferson. ZEven in 1852, when the
City of Lafayette was formally annexed to New Orleans, it continued %o
be the parish seat of Jefferson, until the constitution of 1852 extended
the limits of the Parish of Orleeans so as to include the City of
Lafayettes The constitution also provided that until e new apportion-
ment should be made according to the new census Lafayette should wvote
for senators as from the parish of Orleans, and should elect two out
of the three representatives apportioned to Jefferson. (20)

In 1850, Lafayette had a population of 14,190, of which aboub
thirteen per cent were colored. The following year the city mede two
appropriations which greatly influenced the future develorment of the
entire section; one, a warrant for $166,70 as Lafayette's proportion
of a proposed survey for the Wew Orleans and Jackson Railrocad, which ;
has since become the soubthern end of the Illinois Central Lines; the &
other, a subscription of 3200 for the Algiers and Opelousas Railroad,
which in turn became the New Orleans end of the Southern Pacific. (21)

The city proper, being a river town, was located near the water 5
front, where the Germsn and Irish settlers were in the majority. Even l
today that part of New Orleans between Thalia Street and Seventh Street,
and from Magezine Street to the riwr, is locally called the "Irish
Chennel", '

CITY OF JEFFERSON

Immediately beyond the City of Lafaystte was situated the
"Borough of Freeport", which wes incorporated May 27, 1846, Its boun-
dary ran through the area which at present lies between State and
Webster Streetss In 1847 the line was extended to Joseph Street, the
lower limits of the settlement of Hurtsville., On March 9, 1850, the
"Borough of Freeport" was absorbed by the incorporation of the City
of Jefferson, composing the following faubourgs: Plaisance, Delachaise,
St. Joseph, Bast and West Bouligny. (22) Twenty years later, on larch
16, 1870, Wew Orleans annexed the City of Jefferson. (23)

Hurstville and the subdivisions Bloomingdale and Burtheville
formed the greaber portion of the plantation formerly owned by Jean
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Etienne de Bore, who in 1794 was the first person to succeed in crystale
lizing sugar in Louisiana. Audubon Park contains about two arpents of
the land originally owned by de Bore. The remainder of the park was
purchased by the City of New Orleans in 1871 from the Foucher estate.
The rear of the Foucher property from St. Charles Avenue back is now
occupied by Loyola University, Tulane University and Audubon Place. (24)

CITY QF CARROLLTON

The most importent of the towns above New Orleans was Carrollton.
Before the Civil War it was regarded as a summer resort by the people
of New Orleans. Its fine hotel and garden were situated on the river
side of the New Orlesans and Carrollton Railroad Compeny's station, end
were bounded by Ste. Charles and Carrollton Avenues, Madison and Levee
Streots. The depot surpassed any of those in the City of New Orleans.
The hotel, depot and garden have long since disappeared owing to the
encroachments of the river and the Public Belt Railroad, Incidentally,
Carrollton is the only one of the early towns of Jefferson Parish
which, as a part of New Orleans, has rebtained its former name. (25)

The land on which Carrollton now stands was known as the Macarty
sugar plentations The previous history of the tract is so complicated
and indefinite that historians disagree on many points of the succession.
It was part of a grant made to Bienville in 1719, and was transferred
by him to Nicholas Chauvin de la Freniere "at the quit-rent of six livres
of rent per arpent, as also two capons and two days labor for each of
the said arpents", (26) At the father's death, the plantation apparently
passed to his son, Nicholas de la Freniere, Jr. Nicholas Chauvin de la
Freniere was executed by O'Reilly for his part in the rebellion of 1768,
The next owner was Louis Cesaire LeBreton, son~inelaw of the elder la
Freniere, Whether he inherited the property, or as another story goes,
had received it in 1757 as a grant from the French government, appears
wnknown. It is equally uncertain just how it came into the Macarty
femily. According to one source, LeBreton sold it to Barthelemy Macarty
on January 21, 1781, Another version claims that it passed to his son,
eand upon his murder, it became the property of Barthelermy Macarty, the
tutor of the LeBreton children., The title to the lands, however, as
confirmed by Congress in 1823, was based on a Spanish grant to Jean
Baptiste Macarty, son of Barthelemy Macarty, in 1795. (27)

The plantation, consisting of thirty-two arpents on the Mississippi
River, and extending between the present limits of Upperline eamd Lower-
line Streets, was in cultivation in 1808 by the liacarty family as a
sugar plantation. In 1831 the entire tract was sold by the heirs to the
New Orlesns Canal and Banking Company, snd Laurent Millaudon, John
Slidell and Samuel Kohn. These parties, acting as an association, in
1833 employed Charles Zimple, a surveyor, to lay the plantetion out in
lots and squares, They named the embryo town after General William
Cerroll, who, with a large forece of Tennessee militia, enroute to the
Battle of New Orleans, had encamped in 1814 on the plantation. The
town was incorporated on larch 10, 1845, and became the City of Carrollton
in 1850. (29) The city extended its limits in 1872 to teke in all the
territory between Lowerline Street and lLabarre Road, in Jefferson
Parishe (30)
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The first house in Carrollton was built by Samuel Short in 1834 or
1835, The first brick store was built in 1843 by Mr., Christian Winters,
a German, The first newspaper, THE CARROLLTON STAR, was published in
1849 by P, Souliar. This paper was issued for only & short btime and
went out of existence, but was re-issued in 1851. (31) In 1863 Mr,
Sculiar started publication of the CARROLLTON TIMES, which was published
semi-weekly until 1868, when it wes made a weekly. About 1871 or 1872
he ceased publication of the TIMES, but in 1873 issued THE CARRCLLTON
SENTINEL. On November 5, 1873, it was made the official journal of the
City of Carrollton by the mayor snd the city coumcile When Carrollton
was added ‘o New Orleans the offices of ‘the paper were moved to Gretna
and the name became THE JEFFERSON SENTINEL, The paper was usually non=-
partisan, but in the campaign of 1876, when Louisiana became the center
of Congressional investigetion, THE JEFFERSON SENTINEL strongly advo=
cated Hayes end Wheeler in the national political field, and backed
?. g. Wermoth for the Republican nomination for the governor of Loulsiana,

32

The Wew Orleans and Carrollton Reilroad was one of the first street
railroads constructed in the country, preceded in the South only by the
Pontchartrain Railroed., The railroad was chartered in 1833 and had the
privilege of extending to Baton Rouge. (33) The line begen at Lee Circle,
then called Tivoli Cirecle, snd ran out Nayades Street (now St. Charles
Avenue), to First Street in Carrollton. Along the route were small
railroad stabtions: City of Lafayetbte at Jackson Avenue, Jefferson City
at Louisiena Avenue, Bouligny alt Napoleon Avenue, Burtheville at Henry
Clay Avenue and Greenville at Broadway. The City of Carrollton also had
another railroad, called the Jefferson and Lake Pontchartrain Rallroad
Company, which was incorporabed in 1840, by am act of the Legislature.
This railroad operated only in Jefferson Parish, from Carrollton to
Lake Pontchartrain; it ran along Levee Street to Protection Levee, thénce
to Lake Pontchartrain in the neighborhood of Buck Town (now Bast End),
where the company had its wharves. There the steamers from across the
leke and even those from Mobile would dock, This road was finally
absorbed by the Carrollton Railroad. (34)

The rapid growth of New Orleans made the sannexation of Carrollton
almost inevitable., When the bill was first introduced into the legis-
lature in Janvary, 1874, numerous probests came from the citizens, who
feared that property would decrease in value, assessments would increase,
and that depreciated Carrollton bonds would be used for speculation.
Gredually the opposition died, THE CARROLLTON SENTINEL, which led the
fight against annexation, changed sides on March 21, 1874 and came out
strongly in favor of it, On March 26, the whole city delegation from
New Orleans rode up to the Carrollton City Hall, where they received from
Mr, Brice, ex-mayor, the archives and the property of the city. When
Carrollton was sunexed to New Orleams, the upper limits were dropbed
back to Monticello Street, where they remain today. Today, Carrollton
is one of the most beautiful sections of New Orlesns. (35)

POLICE JURY

When Jefferson was created in 1825, twelve commissioners were
appointed bo divide the parish into twelve districtse These commissioners
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were Lucien LaBranche, La. Dussau, Jean Baptiste Le Breton, J. Holliday,
F. B. de Labarre, L. Volant Lebarre, Francois Dorville, D, Villars,

L. Dussuau de Lacroix, Joseph Verloin and Felix Delery. (36) On Januvary
30, 1834, an act was approved to organize and define the authority,
duties and function of the Police Jury of the Parish of Jefferson, and
"thet the Police Jury of the Parish of Jefferson shall be constitubed
and composed of not less tThan eight, nor more than twelve members", (37)
In 1938, the City of Lafayette was denied representation on the police
jury, and the authority of the police jury could no longor be exercised
within its limits. The president and board of council of Lafayette
were empowered to exercise within the limits of the city all the powers
heretofore vested in the police jury, in addition to the authority
already granted, (38) As = consequence of this act, the Police Jury of
Jefferson divided the parish into ten wards, each one of which was to
elect one member to the jury in accordence with existing laws. (39)

By an act of March 7, 1856, each village in the parish was au-
thorized to elect three commissioners of public works to act within the
respective limits of each village. These cormissioners were to make
annual statements to the police jury., In this same year the police
Jury was delegated to appoint a parish committee, "the basis of represen-
tation to be in ‘the proportion of the state taxes assessed in the
respective limits of each corporation. Each corporation entitled %o at
least one member in said committee." The duty of +this committee was
to determine and fix the pro rate of contribution of each corporation
‘towards the expenditures which by law bear upon the whole parish, and
to examine all bills or claims set up against the perish and report upon
them to the several councils and police jury. (40) In 1857 the police
Jjury was authorized to open roads through private property, but this
act was repealed the following year. (41)

"In 1888, because of differences which developed within the police
Jury, two police jury districts were created for the parish, divided
as follows: "All that portion...lying on the right bank of the river
Mississippi shall constitute one police jury district, to be known under
the name and style of !'Police Jury of Jefferson, Right Bank'...all
that portion of the parishe...situvated on the left bank of the river
Mississippi, with bthe exception of the two corporations known as the
tCity of Jefferson' and 'Town of Carrollton', shall form and constitute
another police jury district, to be known by the name and style of
'Police Jury of Jefferson, Left Bank'". (42)

In 1859 the police jury, left bank, was authorized to borrow
money for the construction of shell roads, and to issue bonds therefor.
(43) The following year the police jury, left bank, was authorized to
divide the parish, left bank, into school districts and to appoint
school directors for the same, and to make regulations concerning
schools. (44) On December 3, 1860, the police jury, right bank; "in
view of the present pélitical convulsion agitating the country," appro=-
priated the sum of $1,000 for the use of the military company known as
the "Jefferson Rangers"., An amendment was also passed giving $500 to
each infantry or artillery company that might be organized in the parish,
On the same day Captain J. G. Dreux, commander of the "Jefferson Rifles®,
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left bank, asked for the support of the different mumicipal corporations,
end permission to use the courthouse as an armory. (45) In October,

1861, the police jury subscribed $4,000 to aid in the construction of a
fort at Little Temple (on Boutte Island), to protect the lower Barataria
region, and cut off all communications with the blockading squadrons
through these outlets. (46) In 1861, the police jury, left bank, was
given the power to have delinquent taxes recorded as a lien and privilege
on the property of the delinguent., They were also authorized %o pass
laws regulating improvements in the villages of the left bank., (47)

During Reconstruction the power of the police jury was superseded
by that of the Metropolitan Police, which in 1868 pleced the parish in
the power of five commissioners, three of them negroes. During their
rogime of ten years they held undisputed control over the police jury
and over the finances of the parish., (48) In 1877, following the defeat
of Governor Kellogg snd the installation of Francis Nichols as governor,
the Metropolitan Police was abolished by the legislature, and the
Jefferson Parish Police Jury resumed control of its own affairs. (49)
One of the first acts of the restored parish government was to oust the
officials of the Metropolitan Police and to repudiate the warrants
issued by them against the police jury. In October, 1879, a report in
the minutes of the police jury declared the claim of one L. Roche, for
the sum of $712,00, invalid, and "no longer en obligation against the
parishe" A month later the police jury drew money from "the fund knowm
as the Metropolitan Police Fund" Lo defray expenses of the sheriff and
to run the district term of court. (50)

The police juries of the state, with the exseption of those of
Jefferson and Orleans, were reorgenized in 1871, and the governor au-
thorized to appoint, with the advice and consent of the senate, five
police jurors to hold office until the election of 1872, at which time
five members were to be elecbed in each parish, for a term of two years.
(51) Two years later this act was amended end made applicable %o
Jefferson Parish, but the two police juries were to remain as set up
by previous legislation. (52) In 1876 an act was passed empowering the
police jury, right bank, to issue interest bearing bonds in lieu of
and in liquidation of outstanding liabilities. (53)

In 1884 the legislature abclished the police juries, right and
left bank, and consolidated the parish under one parochial government,
styled "The Police Jury of the Parish of Jefferson". The parish was
divided, by this act, into nine police jury wards. (54) Another act
of 1884 repealed all acts creating commissions of public works and
other offices of villages and unincorporated towns. Villages and wn-
incorporated towns were to return to the control of the parish, (55)
The same legislation which provided for the consolidation of the
parochial government of Jefferson also empowered the ~overnor to
appoint an additional juror for each ward with a population of
5,000 inhabitants, eand one more for each additional 5,000 inhabitants
or part thereof in excess of 2,500, The additional jurors were
to be selected from the registered voters of the ward, (56) Under
the authority of acts similar to those of 1880 and 1882 the governor
continued to aproint the successors to the police jury wmtil 1898. (57)
Control over local affairs was made possible by an act of 1894 which
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provided that the election of police jurors be resumed in all the
parishes, except New Orleans, at the general election to be held in April,
1896, and at each general election thereafter, i. e., every four years.

i (58)

i Since 1908, Jefferson esnd other parishes with a population of less

E than 50,000 have been entitled to clect an additional police juror in
those wards where there are more than 5,000 inhabitants, and one more

for each additional 5,000 or part thereof in excess of 2,500 inhabitants.
The provisions of this act entitlc Wards Three and Bight to two police
jurors cach, and Werd Four to four, making a total of fourteon police
jurors for the nine wards of the parish. (59) In the last decade the
police jury has been permitted to advertise its resources and other ad-
vantages by publication and radio. (60)

At the time Jefferson Parish was established, the candidate for
membership to the police jury was required to be a respectable inhabi-
tent, and a frecholder in the parish, (61) In 1829, candidates for
this office were required to have the same qualificetions as mombers
of the State House of Representatives. (62) Since 1894, candidates musth,
in addition to the above, be able to read and write, and own in his
own right, or his wife own in her owi right, property of an assessed
value of at least $250 in the parishe (83) This assessed value must
be on the assessment roll at the time of the general election or the
candidate is not elipgible. (64)

PARISH SEAT

The first parish seat was esbablished at Lafayette in 1825, (65)
but was removed to the City of Carrollton in 1852, when Lafayette was
ennexed to the Parish of Orloans. (66) In 1858, when the stato Legisw
lature created two distinet police juries within the parish, the two
police juries, the officials of the City of Jefferson snd the Towm of
Carrollton, all held their meetings at the courthouse in Carrollton.
(67) 1In 1874, when the City of Carrollton was axmexed to Néw Orleans,
the seat of the parish was moved across the river to Harvey, where Harw
vey's Castle, Built in 1844 by Captain Joseph Hale Harvey, served as
the courthouse. (68) It was resolved on May 7, 1884 to move the courte
house, perish offices and records from Harvey to William Tell Hell in
Gretna. (69) On April 4, 1876, a bill was introduced to the pollce
jury for the sale of tho courthouse in Carrollton, thé procecds of the
sale to be divided forty~fivé per cent td Now Orleans, thirty-sevon
per cont to Jefférson Parislhy Right Bank, end eighteen per cent to~
Jefferson Parish, Left Bank, The sale was not reported until 1890,
Jefferson receiving $ 4,312.00 as her share. (70) This building, on
Carrollton Avenue, was occupied from 1855 to 1874 by the administrative
offices of the city and parishe (71) Today it is the McDonogh Wo. 23
grammer school. In 1906 the police jury was empowered to dispose of
the thé courthouse on the corner of Newton and Third Streets, In
Gretna, and a riew courthouse was built at its present location on Huey
P, Long Avenuee (72)
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BOUNDARIES

Jefferson Parish has had meny boundary changese.  The first act of
creation gave no definite limits to the parish except those already
prescribed in the Constitution ol 1812 for the "third scnatorial dise ~
trict above Nuns Plantation". It has alroady been shown how Lafayctte,
Jefferson City and Carrollton were incorporabted with New Orleans,
Several other acts clarified the existing boundaries, but made no
chongese (73) On August 6, 1890, in view of "comsiderasble wncertainty
as to the exact location of the bowndary line between the parishes of
Orleens and Jefferson from the Mississippi River to Lake Pontchartrain',
the police jury "for the sake of harmonious relations of the governe
ment of the two parishes", resolved ‘o employ a sufveyor on the part of
Jefferson. (74) This survey was completed in 1892, =amd recognized by
the City of New Orleeans. (75)

Recently the discovery of oil in the marshes of the Gulf reogion
has brought about a dispite between Jefferson and Lefourche over the
posscssion of Grand Islec, Hackborry Bay and Chenierc Caminadae Lo
fourche Parish bases its claim on tho act of 1824 which states that -
"half of the Pass Moniden as far as the soe, including the Grand Isle,
shall constitutc the oastern boundary of tho Parish of Lafolrche, any
law to the contrary notwithstanding", (76) Jefferson Parish, however,
claims that the two subsequent acts of 1827 and 1830 abrogates the
earlier act by specifically placing both Grend Isle and Cheniere Camis
neda in this parish. (77) lbreover, in the revised statutes of 1852,
the bowndary of Jefferson is given as " a linc which is not definitely
defincd, but ineludes the Chenierc Cominada and Grand Isle, scparating
the said Parish of Jefferson from the Parish of Lafourche Interior, to
the Gulf of Mexico." (78) Each parish has appointed a committée to
cxamine ‘tho respective claims and roport on thom Junc 15, 1939, at Dos
Allemomds. (79)

POPULATION GROWTH

The earliest census of the parish, in 1830, showed 6,840 personse.
(80) From that time until 1850 the population inéreased steadily, (81)
but between 1850 cnd 1860 there was o loss of 10,000 which con be ate
tribubed to the snnexation of the City of Lafayefte %o New Orloons. (82)
Thore was further decrease between 1870 and 1880, due to the amnexation
of the City of Jefferson and the City of Carrollton to New Orleanss (83)
Sinée that time the number of inhabitants of Jefferson has been increasw
ing, doubling between the ycars 1920 end 1930, when tho figures for the
latter year showed 40,032 inhobitants. (84) The Parish officials bow
lieve that the population today is at least 45,000,

TAXES AND ASSESSED PRQPERTY VALUES

The total taxes collectod for tho year 1877, one of the earliest
records available, amounted to' $14,979.,63, (85) Due to the growbth of ~
the parish in population and to its recognition as a commercial center,
which has brought in many large corporations, the tax receipts rose,
until in 1937, the real and personal, state snd local taxos amounted to




$1,012,525,56, (86) The total assessed property veluc for 1938 am
mounted to $29,586,759,00, an increase of $711,542 over the 1937
evaluation, (87)

AREA SOIL

Jefferson has an area of 426 square miles, (88) All of the lower”
pert of the parish is coastal marsh, and the entire parish is alluvial,
formed by the sediment brought down by the Mississippi, The highest
and most productive land 1s near the banks of the Mississippi River and
the bayous from which it slopes off into wooded swampse There, the
principal forest growth is cypress, ash, hickory, sap gum and tupeclo.
(89) The elluvial soil is fertilc, and at present more then 4,000 acres
of Class A londs are undor cultivation for truck crops. Proximity to
Now Orlcons insurcs o market for pPactically everything roised, while
cxeellont transportation faciltics, combined with o long growing scdson,
?na§le fromers Lo ship their products in early spring snd late fall.
90

PRODUCTS AND RESOURCES

"In 1937, income from cattle and dairy products alone amointed to
$113,357, Jefferson's 273 dairies produce approximotely 2,500,000 golw
lons of milk annually. Practicelly seventy~five por cent of the dairye
men arc now roising their own stock, ond about fifty per cent have sub=
stituted homomgrown feed for commecrcial fecd, resulting in on apprecim -
sblo saving. In conjunction with dairying and agriculture, the farmers
are finding poultry and swine roising profitable side lines. ALl the
focd noeded for those cntorprises can be supplied by culled inferior
vegetables, surplus grain and skim milk. (92)

Before and for some time after the Civil War, the cultivation of
sugar conc was the most impertant industry of the séction, wmtil Hosaie
discase almost destroyed the cane crop of Louisiana, With the intros
duction of Mosaic resistent wvaricbics of cone, however, the industry
hes revived somewhat in the parish, and sugar canc is again being grown
on o commorcial scole necr the Ste. CharloseJofforson lince (93)

Another agricultural enterprise of the Parish is floral culbture.
Many florists sell their préducts in New Orleans, while others ship
them to points in the northe Along with this has come the successful
production of lily=bulbs. The industry in Jefferson Parish has been
greatly advanced by tho experimerts of Dr, Julian Miller in disease
resistant varieties. (94)

Fish are plentiful, and the shrimp and oyster Industry is of cone
siderable importance, especially arownd Barateria Bay. Menile Village
is o typical shrimping settlement, where the sole activity is the dry=
ing of shrimp for morketings Philippine immigrents originally sete
tled here, ond their descendants still speak a Spcnish patoise Another
shrimping ¥illoge is Bassa Bassa, where the majority of the population
is Chinocsee The shallow waters of the lower parish have just the prow
por salinity for tho growth of oysters, and in 1937 produced 63,343
barrclse (95) Anothor industry of local importance is the marketing
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of soft=shell crabs, At Fleming Canal Store on Big Bayou Barataria,
Felix Favalora operates a crab exchange where more than 300 families
bring their catches for sale, Some of the crabs are shipped alive to
Wew Orleans, others are packed in ice for shipment to points all o¥er
vhe United States. (96) just beyond the city limits of New Orleans, at
Shrewsbury, is located a factory for the cenning of frog legs. Trap-
ping of muskrat, mink, otter, raccoon and opossum gives employment to
hundreds of treppers during the winter months. (97)

In recent years the parish has become one of the most highly
industrialized centers of southern Louisiansa, with meny large mans-
ufacturing plants in operation throughout the year. Today, more then
fifty-five per cent of all products menufactured in and shipped from
the Port of New Orleans are menufectured on the right bank of the Misse
issippi River in Jefferson Parishe The reasons for this growth aofe Oben
viouss. The area across the river is a natural distribution point. As
a péart of the Port of New Orleans, large vessels may dock in the har-
bore. It also has seven trunkline railroad lines and access to Gulfl
ports by the Intracoastal Canale. There is enough land to permit ese’
tablishment and fubure development of large plents, plentiful labor,
and a low tex rabe for industry. Here is located the main plant of
The Célotex Corporation, which mokes wall board from suger cane bags
gasse, fibre residue left afber the juice has been squeezed from the
canee The plant has expanded until it now covers 140 acres. (98)

0il was discovered near Lalfitbte in 1933, and the first well
brought in by The Texas Compeny, in May, 1935. The compeny now has &
large gasoline plant at Lafitte. This is one of the most consistant
0il reserves in Louisiana. Thirty wells have been bored, of which only
one was a dry hole, (99) 1In 1937 there were 3,847,930 barrels of oil
taken out of this Jefferson field. (100)

SOCIAL PROBLELS

During the first hundred years of the parish's existence, social
problems werc referred to only incidentally by the police jury. The
parish did, however consider itself responsiblc for the burial of paus
pers, transportation of tho poor sick to the stgte hospital, and for a
certain amount of direct aid to indigent persons. (101) In 1860, twenty
yoars before the passage of any state law, the police jury auchorized
its president to take carc of a sick pauper. As a means of prevente
ing the parish from supporting a large pauper population, the police
jury granted free licenses to widows, widows with children, and to ine
firm persons for the privilege of running small general stores or pedde
ling goods. (102)

Recognition of the desirability of caring for dependent children
in their own homes caused the establishment in 1921 of a widows! end
orphens' pension by the police jury. Thesc pensions were customarily
for a definite amount over a steted period of time, as thirty~five dole
lars for six months, or twenty-Tive dollars for one year. Thefe is no
mention of any supervision of the families receiving this fund, nor of
eny quelifications as to who should réceive money from the fund, (103)
By a resolution passed in 1932 the $2,000 budgeted for the paupers is
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pro-rated among the fourteen members of the police jury to aid widows
and orphans residing in their respective wards. (104) At present the
police jury and the Department of Public Welfare, supplemented by governw
ment agencies, takes care of the relief cases of the parish, (105)

Care of orphans began in 1834, when the police jury ordered all
fines collected from its members for non-attendance or refusal to serve
when elected to bse turned over to the orphan boys' asylum in Jefferson
Parish., (106)

Hope Haven Farm, a Catholic orphanage and training school for boys
from the age of ten to manhood, is on Barataria Road a mile and a half
beyond the town of Marrero, Across the road from this institution is
Madonna Manor, which cares for younger boys, Both of these charitable
homes are the work of the Right Rev, Monsignor Peter M, H. Wynhoven,
founder and director., (107) The main units of Hope Haven were dedicatsd
in 1927, They consist of modern buildings in the Spanish mission style.
Here neglected boys of all creeds and from any part of Louisiana, are
given a home and educated in some skilled work which will make them
self-supporting., In order that each boy may be given instruction in
the trade or pursuit for which he is best fitted, a special vocational
department is maintained. (108) The Madonna Menor unit was opened on
September 6, 1932, BEvery effort has been msde to create a home where
the children will be made to forget they are orphans, and where they
may have the opportunity of developing to the highest degree their
personalities and talents, (109) The police jury of Jefferson Parish
has contributed to Hope Haven since 1918, (110) In 1923 they appro-
priated the sum of $ 1,500 for the support of parish orphans, and in
1930 signed a contract with Hope Haven by the terms of which the farm
would receive five dollars a month for each boy sent them by the parish,
The contract was renewed in 1933, and has since worked to the satis-
faction of both parties, (111)

SCHOOLS

There have been schools in Jefferson Parish since the creation
of the parish, but they were not free public schools in the true sense,
Although open to all white pupils without distinction to class, they
charged tuition to those who could pay. BEach school, however, provided
for s limited number of indigent pupils, whose tuition was paid out of
the state appropriation for education, (112) It is a matter of record
that true "free public schools* were planned by the Jefferson Parish
school authorities in 1841, four years before they existed in any other
part of the state, (113) 1In that year, the council of the City of
Lafayette passed an ordinance for the establishment and organization of
the first public school "for the gratuitous education of children of
both sexes to which all children of proper age of white resident parents
shall be admitted.," (114) From that time on, the schools of the parish
advanced, and now rank equally well with any other schools in the state.
In the past thirteen years over a million dollars has been spent for
school buildings., At present there are six senior high schools, five
of which have elementary departments; onejunior high school and nine-
teen elementary schools, (115) Recently a bond issue was floated to
build $ 1,600,000 worth of schools, stadia and gymnasiums and to improve
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school greunds, (116)

Among the private schools is the Metairie Park Country Day School,
which fosters progressive education, It was launched by a group of cc-
operating parents of New Orleans, in September, 1929, Situated in
Jefferson Parish, adjoining New Orleans, on Park Road at Duplessis
Street, Metairie, it is far enough away from the congestion and noise
of the city to be in a distinctive atmosphere of its own, yet near
enough for the children to be taken back and forth every day in busses,
They thus have the advantage of a boarding school and of home life at
the same time. lihen the school was opened, it took children only
through the sixth grade, Now it takes them through high school, The
present entollment is about 170, (117) This school is so conducted
that home work is not necessary except for students in the high school,

CITIES AND TOWNS

Several of the towns of Jefferson are connected with historical
events and colorful legends. Kenner, incorporated in 1873, (118) is
situated on the east bank of the Mississippi River twelve miles above
New Orleans, and is one of the oldest towns in the parish, In the days
before the Civil #ar, when sugar culture was important, this section
was known as "Cannes Brules" or "Burnt Cane," On a map dated 1858, ‘
Coleman's Mill is shown, where cannon and cannon balls were made du -
ring the Civil War, This foundry was located just off the present
Wwilliams Street, in a section since taken into the river, Two of ths
largest sugar plantations were owned by the Kenner brothers. When
sugar bécame no longer profitable, the owners divided their plantation
into lots, which they sold to settlers., The first settlers were of
Irish and Cerman descent, but later many Italian families settled here.
It was during this period that extensive truck farming came into
prominence, Served by three railroads and two psved highways, Kenner
is able to ship vegetables to all parts of the couniry. (119)

Two miles below Kenner is Harahan, incorporated in 1920 by
proclamation, Located in the heart of a fertile area suitable for truck
farming, dairying, stock and poultry raising, this section annually
supplies New Orleans with a large amount of farm produce, Harahan's
proximity to New Orleans, combined with the lowsr cost of living, makes
it an ideal place for suburben homes. (120)

Metairie, from a French word meaning "farm", is situated im-
mediately west of and adjacent to the City of New Orlesns, comprising
an area of about six square miles, Metairie Bayou, once a navigable
stream alongside the present Metairie Road, by overflowing its banks
with each high water period many years past, caused silt to settle on
each side of the bayou, thereby building up the so-called "Ridge",
which is several feet higher than the greater portion of the resie
dential area of New Orleans, It is only natural that those seeking
largor homesites, easily accessible to the business section, became
interested in locating in Metairie, now but fifteen minutes drive by
auto to the business center of the city. (121) Just across Metairie
Bayou from the road is Metairie Cemstery, reputed the finest in the
entire world., It is located at the junction of Metairie Road zond
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Pontchartrain Boulevard, In the early days, this was the old Metairie
Rece Track, where many famoug races were run in the ante-bellum period.
(122)

Today, many residential areas have been developed, rapidly attract-
ing Orleanisns to this section, Metairie averages five to ten degrees
cooler than the City of New Orleans during the summer months. Metairie
Club Gardens, a residential park, surrounded by the Metairie Golf Course,
has & minimum restriction of $ 15,000 for each home built therein, and
is rapidly building up with magnificent residences on beautifully land-
scaped greunds. It is one of the showplaces of New Orleans, Many other
restricted residential areas have been developed, such as Vincent Place,
Oak Ridge Park, Farnham Place, Crestmont Park, Livingston Place, -
Beverly Knoll, Brockenbraugh Court, Bonnabel Place, Athania Flace,

Elmeer Place, Forest Hills, Ridgeway Terrace and Metairie Terrace, Me-
tairie and the Colonial Golf Clubs offer year round sport for the golfer,
Although residents of Metairie enjoy free delivery service from mer-
chants of New Orleans, it has its own shopping center and grocery stores,
bakeries, hardware stores, drug stores and a neighborhood picture the-
atre, A ten minute bus schedule furnishes ample transportation facili-
ties, Two public schools, several parochial and private schools provide
educational facilities., (123)

Gretna, the parish seat, was settled in the eighteenth century by
a group of German immigrants who called their village Mechanickham.
John Baptiste D'Etrehan (now spelled Destrehan) a large land owner,
hired some of these settlers to dig a canal for him from the Misse
issippi River to Little Bayou Barataria, a distance of five miles, The
canal was completed in 1741 and named in his honor, (124) Passing from
father to son, it became the property of Nicholas Noel Destrehan, of
Jefferson Parish., When he died in 1848, the canal remained under the
control of his daughter, Mrs, Louise Destrehan Harvey. (125) Follow=
ing the Civil #ar the name was changed to Harvey's Canal, It remained
in the Harvey family until 1924, when it was purchased by the United
States as a part of the Intracoastal Waterways System, Today the canal
is equipped with locks, and connects with waterways from Harvey to Gale
veston and Houston, Texas, (126)

The evolution of the name of the settlement from Mechanickham to
Gretna involves a bit of romantic legend., About a hundred years ago an
0ld Creole justice of the peace lived there, who gained the reputation
of performing marriages at any time of the day or night. The frequency
with which run-away couples made use of his services gave rise to the
expression, "They went to Gretna," from the town of Gretna CGreen, just
across the border of Scotland, well known in Ingland for the same rea=
son, (127)

Gretna was incorporated as a town by governor's proclamation on
August 20, 1913, (128) and in 1916 was incorporated as a city by the
legislature. (129) 1In 1930 the city had a population of 9,584. Trans-
portation facilities are excellent, It is connected with New Orleans
by two ferries, it marks the terminus of the Texas and Pacific and
Missouri-Pacific Lines, and is traversed by the Southern Pacific aznd
the New Orleans and Lower Coast Lines, Concrete highways connect the
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city with all parts of the state, the Intracoastal Canal is only one mile
away; and extensive river frontage provides docking facilities for ocean
liners, The city has a modern filtration plant and sewsrage system, and

a municipal garbage incinerator. There are churches of many denominations,
and numerous public and parochial schools, including one of the largest
and finest high schocls in the state, Gretna operates under the alder=
manic form of government, having a mayor and a board of aldermen, (130)

At McDonoghville, now incorporated as a part of Gretna, is ths
cemetery established by John McDonogh for his slaves, McDonogh, born in
Baltimore, came to New Orleans in 1800 and amassed a large fortune from
sugar planting, brick manufacturing and real estate., In 1817 he left
New Orleans and moved across to one of his plantations on the west side
of the river, where later the town of McDonoghville grew up., When he
died in 1850, he was the first white man to be buried in the cemetery set
aside for his slaves, Subsequently other white people were interred
there, but while Edward Thornton, a former slave of McDonogh, served as
careteker, there was no separation of the graves of negross and whites,
In 1891 Mayor Shakespeare of New Orleans ordered their separation, and
today the negroes all lie at the southern end of the cemetery, Some
years after McDonogh's death, his remains were moved to Baltimore in
deference to a request in his will, Known during his life as a miser and
an eccentric, McDonogh is remembersad for his philanthropic desds, He
allowed his slaves to buy their freedom from him by a system of extra
work, and at the snd of fourteen years sent them to the colony in Liberia.
His scheme was a complex device in which kindness and acquisitiveness
each played a part. Although he really wished to help his slaves, he
nevertheless expected to and did profit by the transaction. According to
his own admission, he was able to buy two new slaves for the price that
one paid him for liberation. (131) At his death, it was discovered that
he had left a million dollars to the City of New Orleans for educational
purposes. Thirty-six schools were serescted, all bearing his name, Today
his memory is honored by the school children of New Orleans, who on the
first Friday of each May place flowers about his statue in Lafayette
square, The school children of McDonoghville honor him by placing flowers
on the empty tomb he once occupied,

Westwego, located on the river above Gretna, was incorporated on
January 18, 1919, by proclamation of Governor R, G, Pleasant. At that
time the entire population numbered only 1,583, Today it is a town of
nearly 5,000 inhabitants, The streets are paved, and sub-surface drain-
age and curbing have been installed on all the main thoroughfares,

Ferry service and the Huey P. Long Bridge put the town within' twenty
minutes of the shopping district of New Orleans, (132)

BARATARIA SECTION

Barataria is one of the most picturesque sections of Louisiana.,
Originally the name applied only to Barstaria Isle, but now includes the
whole lower part of Jefferson Parish, Going south from New Orleans, the
neme is encountered at several points, First, there is the village of
Barataria, about sixteen miles south of the city, which in 1930 had a
population of 650, Then follows Bayou Barataria, Barataria Bay and
Barataria Lighthouse on Grande Terre Island, During the first quarter
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of the nineteenth century these islands and bayous formed the rendezvous
of a band of smugglers and pirates led by Jean and Pierre Lafitte., They
had a fortified camp on Grande Terre Island and another at Lafitte, from
which points they preyed upon shipping in the Gulf of Mexico, (133)

When in 1814 New Orleans was threatened by British forces, Jean Lafitte
-wa.s offered a complete pardon, command of a British frigate and 30,000
dollars in gold if he would join the English against the United States.
His refusal, followed by his gallant conduct in the Battle of New Orleans,
won for them all the designation of "patriots", There is a legend among
the natives of Barataria that in the Lafitte Cemetery on Bayou des Oies,
five miles from Lafitte, not only Jean Lafitte, but John Paul Jones and
Napoleon Bonaparte all lie buried, (134)

Cheniere Caminada, an island in the Gulf, probably perpetuates the
memory of Francisco Caminada, who owned land at the site of the
Tchoupitoulas Indian settlement above New Orleans, as well as a tract
of land below the city. (135) 1In 1842 a sufficient number of people
lived there to warrant representation on the police jury., Joseph Cossa
was chosen as a member from Cheniere Caminada, He accepted the appoint-
ment with the proviso that he should not be expected to attend all the
sessions of the body, since his district was seventy-five miles from
the courthouse et Lafayette. He promised, however, to be present when-
éver necessary, and asked the police jury to treat him with the same
indulgence it had extended to his predscessor, Mr, Fauchier, who had
not attended a single meeting, (136) On October 1, 1893, a terrific storm
struck the coast of Louisiana, which because of its center of violence on
the island, has been called the "Cheniere Caminada Storm". The president
of the Jefferson police jury, L. H. Marrero, advised that body to
appropriate the sum of $500 for the relief of storm victims, He reported
that from the best information he could gather, soms three hundred houses
were blown down, and that something like 1200 out of a population of 1800
had lost their lives., The sum asked for was appropriated., (137) Some
of the survivors took refuge at what is now Westwego, Pablo Sala, a
resident of the town, donated to each of the survivors who wished to lo-
cate there a plot of ground, and also provided a cemetery for them,

For a while the settlement was known as Salaville, Later the name was
changed to Westwego, and Pablo Sala is remembered today only in Sala
Avenue, the mein street of the town. (138)

In 1834 a tract of land on Grande Terre, in the lowsr end of
Barataria Bay, was purchased by the state from Etienns de Gruy and ceded
to the United States as a fort site, (139) The legislature decreed that
jurisdiction over the land would revert to the state if the fort were
allowed to fall into decay, or be rendsred useless for a psriod of seven
vears, (140) The fort was completed in 1850 and named Fort Livingston.
It was not garrisoned after the Civil War, and was partially destroyed
in the Cheniere Caminada hurricane of 1893, Today only the ruins of the
brick walls and the rusted cannon remain, (141)

An event of great local interest is the annual pirogue race, held
at Lafitte each May, Inaugurated in 1936, the race serves to perpetuats
the traditions surrounding this Indian mods of travel, and to pay
tribute to the skill of the men of the bayous in the building and hand-
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ling of thess little craft, The contest is staged on Bayou Barataria,
from Kammer's Store to Fleming Park, a racing course of four and seven-
tenths miles, Here hundreds of people gather to watch the race, in
which from seventy~-five to a hundred entrants vie with each other for
first place, For four years now the record, thirty-five minutes and
nine seconds, has been held by young Adam Vincént Billiot, a citizen

of Jefferson Parish, (142)

At the end of the parish lies Grand Isle, with the witers of
Rigaud Bay on one side, and the rolling surf of the Gulf of Mexico on
the other, It is said that this island was a stronghold of Jean Lafitte,
and that many of the inhabitants today are descendants of his band.
f#hatever their ancestry, the people spsak a French patois, They farm
enough to produce food, and fish as a means of livelihood, As a side-
line to fishing, they act as guides for visitors on fishing expeditions.
Bach year, late in August, Grand Isle attracts many contestants to the
annual Tarpon Rodeo, Ths first rodeo was sponsored in 1927 by John C,
Donovan, a fishing enthusiast of New Orleans, S8ince that time the fame
of the event has spread until at present some of the best fishermen from
the Gulf Coast, and even the East Coast and the Great Lakes, take part
in the sport. (143)

SUMMARY

The keynote of Jefferson Parish is Progress. In spite of the set-
back occasioned by the annexation of its earliest towns, the parish has
gone forward in population, industry and wealth, because it has the
sound basic materials from which thess things emanate, Nature has been
kind to Jefferson. There is wealth in her soil, capable of almost un-
limited expansion, Beneath the ground "black gold" in quantities yet
untouched awaits future development, Even the water and marshes con-
tribute their share to the general prosperity. The climate is sub-tropi-
cal, with few extremes of either heat or cold, There is space for
industry, for homes and gardens and for children. There are thriving
towms alive with the hum of business, immense plants which furnish
wealth and employment to the parish and its people, quaint villages,
the unforgetabls loveliness of winding bayous, and the long roll of surf
against its southern shores., For everything produced in the parish
there are oceangoing ships and fast trains to reach the markets of the
world, while next door half a million people offer a ready market for
the things Jefferson has to sell, In addition to all this, the parish
has an industrious, wide-awake people, and a sound business government.
It is not only a good place to live now, but one which furnishes a
guarantee of continued progress, '
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(Adv-Fav)

SUBJECT INDEX
(Numerals refer to page numbers of original minutes)

Advertisement, of resources, 9
Agriculture, 11

Appointments, members, 8

Area, 11

Arnault, Jean, property of, 2
Assessed property value, 10, 11
Audubon park, 5

Barataria
area, 16
Bayou, 16
fisheries, 11
Isle, 16
lighthouse, 16
protection of, 8
smugglers' rendevous, 17
village of, 16
population, 16
Bassa Bassa, shrimping settle-
ment, 11
Bayou des Oies, coemetery, 17
Bienville
explorer, 2
founder of New Orleans, 17
Biloxi, c¢olonization of, 2
Boisclaire, Nicholas de, land
grant to, 2 .
Bonaparte, Napolson, 17 .
Bonnable place, 15
Bore, Jean Etienne de, sugar
chemist, 5
Boundaries
perish, 9, 10
surveys of, 10
Burnt Cane, 14

Caminada, Francisco, property
owner, 17
Cannss Brules, 14
Carrollton
annexation by New Orleans, 6,
10
avenue, 9
boundaries, 5
city of, 5
location, 5
name derivation, 5
parish seat, 5
Sentinel, 6
Star, 6
Times, ©
Celotex Corporation, 12

Cemetery, McDonogh, 16
Cheniere Caminada
appropriation to, 17
destruction by storm, 17
location, 17
name derivation, 17
parish boundary, 10
population, 17
Children, dependent, 12
Coleman's Mill, cannon foundry, 14
Colonial Golf Club, 15
Commissioners
appointment, o
duties, 6, 7
public works, 7
Committees
appointments, 10
on boundaries, 10
Cossa, Joseph, police jury member,
17
Counties, discontinusnce of, 2
Court house
as armory, 8
location, 9
sale of, 9
Crabs, marketing of, 12
Crestmont park, 15

Dairying, 1
Delery, Felix, commissioner, 7
des Pecheurs Canal, 2
D'Etrehan, John Baptiste, see
Destrehan, John Baptiste
Destrehan, John Baptiste
canal, 15
land owner, 15
Destrehan, Nicholas Noel, property
of, 15
Districts, parish, 6
Donovan, John C.,, Tarpon Rodeo
sponsor, 18
Dorville, Francois, commissioner, 7
Dreux, Captain J. G., 7
Dussau, commissioner, 7

Barly settlements, 2, 3
Election, members, 8

Farms, 1

Farnham place, 15

Faubourgs, see Suburbs
Favolora, Felix, merchant, 12




Subject Indox

Folicity stroot, parish
boundary, 1, 3

Finos, collccted, 13

Floming Cenal Store, crab
exchango, 12

Fleming park, 18

Floral culture, 11

Fort Livingston, 17

Frocport, borough of, 4

Fronch colonists, 2

Fronioro, Nicholas Chauvin
do la, 5

Goneral store liconses, 12
Gorman sottlers, 14, 15
Grand Isle
fishing, 1, 18
parish boundaries, 10
surf bathing, 1
Tarpon Rodeoo, 18
Grand Terro Island
fort site, 17
pirates' fortifications, 17
Gretna
churches, 16
docking facilities, 15
established, 15
form of government, 16
highways, 15, 16
incorporation of, 15
name derivation, 15
parish seat, 15, 19
population, 15
railroad terminus, 15
schools, 16
sewerage system, 16
transportation facilities,
15
Gruy, Etienne de, land donor,
17
Gulf of sexico, boundary, 1,
10

Hackberry Bay, parish boundary,
10

Harshan
incorporation of, 14
industries, 14
location, 14

Harbor, 12

Harvey, parish seat, 9

ii

(Fol=Lab)

Harvey, Captain Joseph Hale,
Home of, as courthouse, 9
Harvey, Mrs, Loulse Destrahan,
property of, 15
Harvey's Canal, 15
Holliday, J., commissioner, 7
Hope Haven farm
boy's orphanage, 13
location, 13
vocational training, 13
Huey P, Long
avenue, courthouse site, 9
bridge, 16

Iberville, explorer, 2

Intracoastal Canal, 12

Intracoastal Waterways System,
15 ‘

Irish settlers, 14

Italian settlers, 14

Jeffersen
boundaries, 4
city of, 4
Jefferson Parish
area, 1
boundaries, 1, 9
creation, 1, 6, 9
districts, 6
highways, 1
location, 1
name derivation, 1
population, 1, 9
Jefferson Rangers, appropriation
to, 7
Jefferson Rifles, appropriation
to, 7
Jones, Jokn Paul, 17
Justice of peaco, marriage
officiant, 15

Kollog, Governor, 8
Konner
highways, 14
incorporation of, 14
location, 14
Konner brothers, plantstion owncrs,
14

Kohn, Samuel, property of, 5

Labarre, F., B, do, commissioner, 7




iii
Subjoct Indoex

Labarro, L. Volant, commig-
sioner, 7

LaBrancho, Lucien, commis-
sioncer, 7

Lacroix, L. Dussuau do,
commissionor, 7

Lafayotto
annexation by New Orlcans,
9, 10
boundarios, 3
city of, 4

locaticn, 4
parish soat, 4, 9
population, 4
public schools, 13
Lafitto
discovory of oil in, 12
gascline menufacturing
plant, 12
pirogue races in, 17
Lafitte, Jean
participation in Battle of
New Orleans, 17
pirate, 17
lafitte, Pierre
participation in Battle of
New Orleans,l17
pirate, 17
Lake Pontchartrain, as parish
boundary, 10
Iand grants, 2
lafourche Parish, boundary
claims, 10
LaSalle Robert Caveleir de
claims Louisiana for Francs,
2 .
death, 2
explorer, 1
LeBreton, Jean Baptiste,
commissioner, 7
LeBreton, Louis Cesaire, 5
Lee circle, 6
Left bank
roads, 7
schools, 7
Licenses, general store, 12
Little Bayou Barataria, 15
Little Temple, fort on, 8
Livaudais, 3
Livestock, 11
Livingston place, 15

(Lab-Met)

Louis IV, King of France, land
grants by, 2
Louisiana
capital, 2
¢eded to France, 2
ceded to Spain, 2

McDonogh, John
birthplace, 16
burial place, 16
characteristics, 16
¢ndowmonts to schools, 16
philanthropist, 16
plantation owner, 16
slave owner, 16

McDonoghville
annexgtion, 16
cometery, 16
ostablishment of, 16
name derivation, 16

Mecarty plantation, 5
Ms.donna Manor
boy's orphanage, 13
location, 13
Manile Villego, shrimping
settlemont, 11
Manufacturing plants, 12
Marigny, Bornard, property of,

Marigny, Marie Cclesto, 3
liechanickham, village of, 15
Membeors

appointment, 6

cloction, 8

fines, 13

qualifications, 9
Motairio

Brog , %14 o

bayou, 14

cemotery, 14

climato, 15

golf course, 15

location, 14

name derivation, 14

park country day school, 14

raco track, 14

road, 14

schoolg, 15
ilotropolitan Police

abolished, 8

L




iv
Subject Index

Motropolitan Police (continued)
duties and powors, 8
fund, 8
filitary companies, appropri-
ation for, 7
Millaudon, Laurcnts, property
owner, 5
Miller, Dr, Julian, florist,
11
Mink, trapping of, 12
Mississippi River
division of parish, 1
oxploration of, 1, 2
parish boundary, 10
Monticollo avenuo, parish
boundary, 1
Muskrats, trapping of, 12

Nogroos, as Motropolian
Polico, 8

Now Orloans
Battle of, 17
boundaries, 2
capital of Louisiana, 12
colonization of, 2
port of, 12

New Orloans and Carrollton
Railroad, 6

Nichols, Francis, Govornor,
8

Nuns' plantation, 12

Oak Ridge park, 15
0il
discovery of, 10, 12
number of wells, 12
production, 12
Opossums, trapping of, 12
0'Reilly, Spanish govornor,
5
Orlcans County, area, 2
Orlsans Parish, boundary, 19
Orphanages, 13
Otters, trapping of, 12
Oystors, cultivation of, 11

Parish
bounderics, 9, 10
creation of, 2
Perish scat, ostablishment
of, 9

(Met- Sch)

Paupeors

burial of, 12

mainteonance of, 12
Pcddler's liconses, 12
Ponsions

orphans, 12, 13

widows, 12, 13
Philippinc immigrants, 11
Picquory, Piorro, proporty of,

.2
Piratcs, 16, 17
Pirogue racos, 17, 18
Plequemine Parish, boundary, 1
Pleasant, Govornor R. G., 16
Polico jury

abolished, 8

consolidated, 8

creation, 7
~division of, 7

loft bank, 7

membors, 7

right bank, 7

supersocded, 8 ‘
Pontchartrain Boulevard, 15
Population growth, 10 ~
Poultry, 11
Products, 11
Proporty

assossments, 10, 11

roads on, 7

Raccoons, trapping of, 12
Reilrend fscilitics, 12
Reconstruction, 8

Rolief, soc Welfarc

Rosourcos, sdvortisoménts of, 9
Ridgway Torrace, 15

Rigaud Bay, 18

Rosds, 7

Rocho, L., claim of, 8

Royel deercos, land grants, 2

St. Andrew streot, 3
8t. Charlos avenuo, 5

St. Donnis, cxplorer, 2

Sala, Peblo, land donor, 17
Schools
buildings, 13
districts, creoation of, 7
ondowments, 16
ostablishment of, 13




Subject Indox

Schools (continucd)
parochial, 15, 16
private, 14
public, growth, 13, 14
tuition, 13

Senatorial districts, 2, 9

Scvonth streot, 4

Shakcspearc, mayor of Now

Orloans, 16
Short, Ssemuocl, plantation
of, 6

Shrowsbury, cannery, 12

Shrimp, marketing of, 11

Sleves, omencipation, 16

Slidell, Jchn, property of,

5

Soil
fortility, 11
typo, 11

Statc hospital, convoyanco

of pationts to, 12

Suburbs
croation, 3, 4
dovoelopment of, 3, 4

Sugar cane, 11

Surf bathing, 1, 18

Surveyor, of parish boundarics,

9

Swino, 11

Tarpon Rodeo, 17, 18
Taxes
collocted, 10, 11
dolinquont, 10
Tchouplitouleas ,
Indian villago, 17
plantstion, 2
Toxas Company, oil wells, 12

(Schedim)

Thalia strecet, 4

Thornton, Edward, slave, 16
Tivoli cireclo, 6

Trading posts, 2

Trapping, 12

Truck farming, 14

Ursuline Nuns, 3

Village commissioners, 7

Villars, D., commissioner,
7

Vincent place, 15

Wards, crootion of, 7
Werrants, rcpudiated, 8
Wolfare
child, 12
orphans, 12, 13
paupors, 12
widows, 12, 13
Wostwego
forries, 16
incorporation of, 16
location, 16
name dorivation, 17
populetion, 16
streots, 16
William Toll Hall, as courthousc,
9
Williams stroot, 14
Winters, Christian, morchant, &
Wynhoven, Right Rov, Monsignor
Pctor M. H,, foundor of
orphanago, 13

Zimple, Charles, survoyor, 5




